### SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-CA-01230

#### DANNY L. HOLLEY

APPELLANT

VERSUS

WANDA S. HOLLEY

APPELLEE

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record for the Appellant certifies that the following people have

an interest in the determination of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices

of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. DANNY L. HOLLEY, Appellant
- 2. MARK G. WILLIAMSON, Attorney for Appellant
- 3. WANDA S. HOLLEY, Appellee
- 4. JOHN W. CROWELL, Attorney for Appellee
- 5. HONORABLE KENNETH BURNS, Chancellor

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. THE CHANCELLOR'S DECISION TO AWARD ALIMONY WAS MANIFEST ERROR, AN ABUSE OF HIS DISCRETION AND WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE WHEN CONSIDERED WITH THE EQUITABLE DISTRIBUTION, AWARD OF CHILD SUPPORT, OTHER SUPPORT AWARDS AND THE ENTIRETY OF THE RECORD
- II. THE CHANCERY COURT WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS IN CALCULATING THE INCOME OF THE APPELLANT WHICH SERVED AS THE MAJOR BASIS FOR THE AWARD OF ALIMONY
- III. THE CHANCERY COURT WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS IN CALCULATING THE EXPENSES AND NEEDS OF THE APPELLEE WHICH SERVED AS A BASIS FOR THE AWARD OF ALIMONY
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR IN AWARDING PERIODIC ALIMONY INSTEAD OF LUMP SUM ALIMONY AS PROMPTED BY THE SUPREME COURT OPINION

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. <u>COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE</u> COURT BELOW

This matter was initially begun when Wanda S. Holley filed a Complaint for Separate Maintenance on June 29, 2001, in Cause Number 2001-0443 in this Court. Danny L. Holley filed an Answer to this Complaint on August 28, 2001. On December 10, 2001, Danny L. Holley (hereinafter Dan) filed a Bill for Divorce in Cause Number 2001-0793 in this Court seeking a divorce on the ground of irreconcilable differences and a ruling on all equitable matters. On December 12, 2001, Wanda S. Holley (hereinafter Wanda) filed her Answer to the Bill for Divorce and a Counterclaim for divorce, seeking a divorce on the ground of adultery, custody of the three

1

children of the parties, child support, alimony, exclusive ownership of the marital residence, a division of marital property, attorney's fees and costs. By agreed order Cause Number 2001-0443 was consolidated with Cause Number 2001-0793 and this matter set for trial on December 17, 2001.

The case was tried on December 17th and 18th, 2001. On February 15, 2002, the Court below entered its Judgment, granting Wanda a divorce from Dan on the grounds of uncondoned adultery. Legal and physical custody of the minor children of the parties was awarded to Wanda. Dan was awarded reasonable rights of visitation with the children. Wanda was ordered to facilitate and encourage this visitation. Dan was ordered to abstain from the use of alcohol or drugs during his visitation with the children. Dan was ordered to pay unto Wanda child support in the sum of \$400.00 per child per month, for a total of \$1,200.00 per month, beginning on March 1, 2002, and a like sum on the first day of each month thereafter. Dan was ordered to continue to provide health insurance coverage for each child, for so long as he is obligated to pay child support for that child, and was ordered to bear the cost of any deductible and 65% of the cost of medical, dental or other health related expenses for each child that is not covered by insurance, and Wanda 35% of said expenses. The Court found that the parties had previously established separate accounts for the children's education and appointed Wanda as the sole custodian of these accounts and she is permitted to use those funds for any college expenses. After those funds are consumed, the Court ordered Dan to pay 65% of all additional sums required for the children's college related expenses (tuition, books, room and board) and ordered Wanda to pay 35% of all of such additional sums, provided the children demonstrate an aptitude for college and diligently pursue a college education.

Wanda was awarded the following property:

#### <u>Asset</u>

#### Value

Residence house and lot, with Wanda to pay

2

the remaining mortgage of \$78,000.00	\$315,000.00
Furnishings, except those hereinafter	
awarded to Dan	12,700.00
2001 Volvo	27,500.00
1987 Volvo	2,500.00
Her jewelry	3,500.00
Checking account (Wanda)	1,243.00
Savings (joint)	90,258.00
IRA (Wanda)	16,391.00
401(k) (Wanda)	44,387.00
Watkins, Ward & Stafford (Wanda)	12,044.00
Along with the mortgage debt, Wanda shall be	
responsible for her outstanding accounts of	6,333.00
and her partnership loca of	17,447.00

Wanda received marital assets with a value of \$525,523.00 and a net value of \$423,446.00.

Dan was awarded the following property:

Value
13,000.00
3,465.00
10,746.00
25,000.00
317,000.00
629.00
10,098.00
2,300.00

Dan received marital assets with a net value of \$382,238.00.

Dan was ordered to pay Wanda periodic alimony in the sum of \$2,000.00 per month, for a period of sixty (60) months, beginning on the 1<sup>st</sup> day of March, 2002, and continuing on the 1<sup>st</sup> day of each month thereafter for the next 59 months. So long as Dan's child support or college expense obligations shall be effective, he was ordered to maintain life insurance on his life in an amount not less than \$50,000 for each child with the children or child named as beneficiaries. In addition, so

long as Dan's alimony obligations shall be effective, he was ordered to maintain life insurance on his life in an amount no less than \$100,000 with Wanda as beneficiary.

Aggrieved of the terms of the Judgment, Dan appeals. Dan filed his Notice of Appeal on February 25, 2002, Designation of the Record on February 28, 2002 and Certificate of Compliance on March 1, 2002. Dan sought an appeal with supersedeas on March 15, 2002 regarding alimony. On April 25, 2002 the Supersedeas Bond and the Writ of Supersedeas were filed, subject to the entry of the order granting supersedeas. On May 8, 2002 the order granting supersedeas was filed which cleared the way for the approval of the Supersedeas Bond and the issuance of the Writ of Supersedeas. Dan is paying the Court ordered child support of \$1,200.00 per month, but the Court ordered alimony payment of \$2,000.00 per month is suspended pending the outcome of his appeal. The distribution of all assets and all other matters ordered by the Court has been completed.

Dan filed his Brief of the Appellant on August 28, 2002 listing the following two (2) issues:

- I. The Chancery Court erred in the amount of its award of periodic alimony to Wanda S. Holley
- II. The Chancery Court erred in the amount of its award of child support to Wanda S. Holley.

Wanda filed her Brief of the Appellee on October 30, 2002.

On August 12, 2003 the Court of Appeals affirmed the Judgment of the Lowndes County Chancery Court as to child support and unanimously reversed and rendered as to alimony. Wanda filed a Motion for Rehearing on August 21, 2003 on the issue of alimony. Dan filed an opposition to Motion for Rehearing on September 11, 2003. The Motion for Rehearing was denied on October 28, 2003. Wanda filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on the issue of alimony on November 10, 2003. Dan filed a Response in Opposition to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari on November 18, 2003. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari was granted on July 8, 2004. On September 16, 2004 the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals' decision and the Chancellor's judgment as to alimony and remanded this case to the Chancery Court for determination of the appropriate type and amount of alimony consistent with its opinion. On September 30, 2004 Dan filed a Motion for Rehearing. Wanda filed a response to Motion for Rehearing on October 8, 2004. The Motion for Rehearing was denied on December 2, 2004.

On remand of this case to the Lowndes County Chancery Court, this case was set for trial on May 17, 2006. On the day of trial, the parties agreed not to reopen the evidence and agreed to have the Chancellor reconsider the evidence presented during the original trial. On June 29, 2006, the Chancellor entered his Judgment. Dan was ordered to pay Wanda periodic alimony in the sum of \$750.00 per month. Judge Gore decided this case on February 15, 2002, and directed that the alimony he ordered begin on March 1, 2002. With this Court's award, Wanda is entitled to accrued alimony through July 1, 2006 of \$39,750.00. The Court does not believe it is just to require Dan to pay all the alimony arrears at one time, but it is appropriate that a portion of the alimony arrears be paid over time. Wanda is awarded a judgment against Dan for \$39,750.00 per month on the arrearage. The Court believes, as shown by the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court decisions, that Dan had an arguable basis for his appeal and therefore no interest is awarded. Payments of current alimony and on the judgment shall begin on July 1, 2006, and shall continue on the first day of each month and continue until the remarriage of Wanda or the death of either party.

Aggrieved of the terms of the Judgment, Dan appeals. Dan filed his Notice of Appeal on July 27, 2006, Designation of the Record and Certificate of Compliance on August 2, 2006.

#### B. <u>FACTS</u>

Danny Leroy Holley (Dan), 42 years of age at the time of trial, and Wanda Sloan

Holley (Wanda), 43 years of age at the time of trial, were married on September 25, 1982 (R2-3, 90), and separated late February 2001, when Dan moved from the family home. (R96)

Dan and Wanda have three children, Hope Marie Holley, born September 11, 1984, 17 years of age at the time of trial, Daniel Sloan Holley, born February 25, 1986, 15 years of age at the time of trial and John Hampton Holley, born September 13, 1989, 12 years of age at the time of trial. (R3, 90-91) All three children lived with Dan and Wanda while they were together and with Wanda since the separation. (R3, 91)

Dan is employed with A. G. Edwards & Sons, a stock brokerage firm in their Columbus, Mississippi office. He has worked for them since September of 1988. Dan is the branch manager and a broker for A. G. Edwards & Sons. Dan does not get a salary for being branch manager. Dan does not receive a salary for being a broker. He is not guaranteed any money at all for working there. Dan makes his money as a broker from transaction fees which are essentially commissions. There is a small transaction fee or commission that A. G. Edwards & Sons charges its clients on transactions. If a transaction is for one of Dan's clients, the firm gets 65 percent of the commission and Dan gets the other 35 percent. (R144, 173-174)

Wanda is a partner at the accounting firm of Watkins, Ward & Stafford and works out of their Columbus, Mississippi office. (R90) Wanda grosses \$6,112.00 a month. (Exhibit D-13) Wanda is guaranteed a salary or a guaranteed payment to partner each month and a bonus every year. (R144)

Dan and Wanda jointly own a four bedroom three and a half bath home at 310 Greenbriar in Cady Hills Subdivision in Columbus, Mississippi. (R155-156) Dan and Wanda built the house. (R208) Dan and Wanda did not have the house and lot appraised. Dan placed the value of the house at \$300,000.00 and Wanda valued it at \$275,000.00. (R41) Both valuations were arrived at without taking into consideration the \$40,000.00 that the parties paid for the lot. (R208) The insured value of the home reflected in the homeowners's policy was \$293,000.00. (R155, 207-208, Exh. P-6) There is only one mortgage owed on the house in the approximate amount of \$78,000.00. (R125) At the time of trial, Wanda and the three children were living in the home. (R91)

Dan had no liabilities other than the home mortgage. (Exhibit D-2) Wanda had two additional liabilities other than the home mortgage. First, she has a note to Watkins, Ward & Stafford of \$17,447.00, which represents the balance of what she owes the firm for buying into the partnership. It's finance dover ten years. Every year Watkins, Ward & Stafford takes approximately one-tenth of it out of her bonus before she gets her bonus at year end. Second, under the liability section of her December Rule 8.05 financial form, she has \$6,630.00 listed as accounts, representing various bills. Those various bills are footnoted at the bottom of the page of her December Rule 8.05 financial form and are as follows: Country Club-\$680.00, House interest-\$1,429.00, BP Visa-\$255.00, Miller Tire-\$16.00, Johnson-\$42.00, David Curtis-\$507.00, McRae's-\$1,119.00 and Visa-\$2,581.00. The \$6,630.00 worth of various bills were not outstanding when Dan and Wanda separated. These are bills that Wanda did not have the money to pay. (R126, Exh. D-13)

1 .-

Dan has the household furnishings valued at \$25,000.00. Dan felt \$40,000.00 or \$50,000.00 more accurately represented the value of the household furnishings, but conservatively set a figure of \$25,000.00. (R210) Wanda valued the household furnishings at \$11,500.00. (Exhibit D-14) Dan valued the personal property he wanted at \$3,465.00. Wanda valued the personal property he wanted at \$3,465.00. Wanda valued the personal property he wanted at \$3,500.00. (Exhibits P-5, D-14) Dan valued the 2001 Volvo at \$30,000.00, which was what they paid for the car. The list price had been \$34,000.00, \$35,000.00 or \$36,000.00. They got a very good bargain on it and paying cash for it like they did may have helped with the purchase price as well. (R214) Wanda valued the 2001 Volvo at

\$25,000.00. Dan and Wanda valued the 1987 Volvo at \$2,500.00 and the 1997 Ford at \$13,000.00. Dan and Wanda agreed on the balances in Dan's checking account of \$10,746.00, Wanda's checking account of \$1,243.00, the joint savings account of \$7,422.00, the money market account of \$107,836.00, Dan's 401-k of \$317,000.00, Wanda's 401-k of \$44,387.00, Dan's IRA of \$629.00, Wanda's IRA of \$16,391.00, Dan's profit sharing of \$10,098.00 and the value of Wanda's partnership interest in Watkins, Ward and Stafford of \$12,044.00. (Exhibits P-5, D-14)

Dan made a lot of money the last three to five years. The stock market has been phenomenal. It's something that we have never seen in history. (R182) In the last three to five years the stock market was experiencing unprecedented growth. The NASDAQ went from trading around 1,000 to trading over 5,000. (R270-271) Dan's gross earnings in 1996 amounted to \$95,456.00. (R76) Dan's gross earnings in 1997 amounted to \$108,687.00. (R77) Dan's gross earnings in 1998 amounted to \$126,259.00. Dan's gross earnings in 1999 amounted to \$172,015.00. Dan's gross earnings in 2000 amounted to \$211,641.00. (R78) Dan's gross earnings in 2001 amounted to \$136,000.00. (R74)

A lot of Dan's income during these years came from bonuses. These bonuses were earned during the preceding year and paid the next year. Dan started getting these bonuses around 1996. Dan is not going to be entitled to a bonus in 2002. (R74-75) 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000 were the best years they have ever had in the market and Dan did get bonuses. (R78-79) In 2001 alone, Dan received bonuses totaling \$47,127.00, of which \$13,497.00 was a bonus for being a broker and \$33,630.00 was a bonus for being a manager. Dan's fiscal year ends in February. Dan's 2001 bonuses totaling \$47,127.00, were derived from what went on from March 1, 2000 until the end of February, 2001. (R179-180, Exh. D-3) Dan knows for certain he won't get a bonus in 2002. (R79)

At the time of trial, the market was bad. (R182) Wanda knew that the stock market had taken

a drastic turn for the worst the past year. Wanda also acknowledged that Dan's earning potential is tied in directly with the market. (R146) The NASDAQ went from trading over 5,000 to about 1,400. At the time of trial, the NASDAQ was struggling up to about 1,700. This downward spiral had occurred over the last year, but it really hit the industry hard in the last six or seven months. There are people literally wiped out. (R271) In Dan's business they are having massive lay-offs. (R182)

Dan's drinking was an issue with Wanda. (R93) Before Wanda was willing to let Dan return home, she partially conditioned his return on him seeking treatment for his drinking problem. (R96) Dan recognized that drinking was a problem and decided to do something about it. (R95) Dan informed A. G. Edwards & Sons, Inc. that he was going into rehab, checking into COPAC. (R96) Dan went to COPAC on April 1 or April 2 of 2001. (R180) Dan stayed at COPAC for six weeks. He got released and returned to Columbus around the middle of May 2001. (R101) Dan attends AA meetings daily. (R16)

(m. . .

When Dan got back from COPAC, quite a bit of his clientele had left him. (R180) Dan lost 25 to 30 clients while he was away at COPAC. (R184) Wanda was aware that Dan had lost clients. In fact, while Dan was in COPAC, Wanda and the children took a vacation to Florida with a couple that closed their accounts with Dan. They were also clients of Wanda. (R146) Wanda knew of three mutual clients that she and Dan shared that have left Dan. Wanda acknowledged that losing clients adversely affects Dan's income. (R148)

Dan experienced a 40 percent drop in his production for 2001 in comparison with year 2000. His production information was supplied to him by his company on a Financial Consultant Production Profile document. (R183-184, Exh. P-1) Dan attributes the 40 percent drop in his production to the economic environment and the loss of clients. (R184) The entire branch office of A. G. Edwards & Sons, Inc. in Columbus, Mississippi where Dan works experienced a 33.45

9

percent drop in production in 2001 in comparison with year 2000. The document that reflects this information is the Branch Production Profile. Production is not profits. There are five brokers in this office. (R185, Exh. P-2) Dan attributes the 33.45 percent drop in the branch office's production to economic environment. His drop in production is higher because he has lost more clients than the other brokers in the office. (R186) The entire branch office of A. G. Edwards & Sons, Inc. in Columbus, Mississippi where Dan works experienced a 45 percent drop in profits for 2001 in comparison with year 2000. The document that reflects this information is the Profit and Loss Report. (R191-193, Exh. P-4)

Dan gets a bonus as a broker only if he reaches a certain level of production. The lowest level of production you have to reach to receive a broker's bonus is \$275,000.00. Dan's year to date production is \$164,000.00 with only two and one-half months left this fiscal year. (R186-188, Exh. P-3) Dan's broker bonus he received in 2001, for his production from March 1, 2000 until the end of February 2001 was \$13,497.00. (R179-180, Exh. D-3) Dan knows for certain he won't get a bonus in 2002. (R79)

Dan gets a manager's bonus only if the profit margin for this office reaches 14 percent or greater. The Profit and Loss Report reflects that the profit margin is only a little bit better than 10 percent. Dan is not going to receive a manager's bonus this year. (R188-193, Exh. P-4) Dan's manager bonus he received in 2001, based upon the profit margin from March 1, 2000 until the end of February 2001 was \$33,630.00. (R179-180, Exh. D-3)

Dan's gross earnings in 2001 amounted to \$136,000.00. (R74) This included bonuses he was paid in 2001 which amounted to \$47,000.00. (R179) Dan's deductions for 2001 amounted to \$57,000.00. (R39, Exh. D-3) Subtracting the bonuses and deductions from his gross earnings leaves Dan with net income of \$32,000.00 for 2001. Dan's average monthly gross income for the past 8 months since he has been back from rehab, excluding one isolated event in August or September, is approximately \$4,791.00. Based on the \$4,791.00, Dan's average monthly adjusted gross income is \$3,111.00. Based on the \$4,791.00, Dan's average monthly net income is \$1,774.73. Dan's monthly living expenses are \$3,565.00. (R33-34, 175, 194, Exh. D-2) In regards to the one isolated event, Dan's gross income for August was approximately \$15,000.00. In August, Dan had a single trade involving two and one half million dollars from which he received a \$10,000.00 commission. This was a one time event that he can't depend on soming along and may never come along again. Subtracting the \$10,000.00 commission from the \$15,000.00 leaves a gross income for August of \$5,000.00. (R176) The last time Dan had a trade of this size was in January of 1991 almost 11 years ago. (R272)

Dan's monthly gross income, for each month that he has been back from rehab, starting with May of 2001, the month he returned from rehab, was \$3,624.03. June's gross income was \$5,128.00. For July his gross income was \$6,107.17. August's gross income was \$3,741.50. September's gross income was \$15,011.11, which included the \$10,000.00 commission he received from that one isolated transaction. For October his gross income was \$4,946.09. November's gross income was \$7,857.23 and December's gross income was \$4,861.43. (R176-178, Exh. D-3)

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