CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

Danny L. Holley

Appellant

Wanda S. Holley

Appellee

Mark G. Williamson

Attorney of Record for Appellant

John W. Crowell

Attorney of Record for Appellee

Kristen Wood Williams

Attorney of Record for Appellee

The Covello Ket Wood William

Respectfully submitted, this the day of June, 2007.

2006-CA-01230-COA

Brief of Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On appeal, much deference is given to the chancellor's findings, and an appellate court will only reverse if the chancellor's findings are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. There must be substantial and credible evidence in the record to support the chancellor's findings. In the case of alimony and child support, the ultimate goal in such cases being to determine whether equity has been done.

Here, the Supreme Court held the issue to be addressed was simply Dan's financial ability to pay. The Supreme Court did not question or reverse Judge Gore's original finding that Wanda was suffering a deficiency after the division of property, and that is the law of the case which cannot be questioned by Dan in this appeal. The record contains substantial and credible evidence to support

Chancery Court had before it evidence of (1) Dan's earnings for 2001, including the 6 weeks in which he did not work; (2) Dan's earning averages for the 6 years prior to the trial of the case; and (3) Dan's earnings for 2001 less any bonuses received during that year. Regardless of which figures were considered by the Chancellor, the evidence clearly shows Dan's ability to pay alimony.

The Supreme Court discussed the Chancery Court's award of rehabilitative alimony and examined the distinctions between rehabilitative and periodic alimony and variations of the two. The Court found the Chancellor erred in awarding rehabilitative alimony based on Wanda's professional and stable career as well as the fact that Wanda did not put her career on hold at any time during the marriage. On remand, the Chancellor correctly determined that periodic alimony was appropriate.

ARGUMENT

Dan identified 4 issues on appeal for this Court. Because the first 2 issues both relate to the Chancellor's determination of periodic alimony, they are considered together in this brief.

- I. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS AWARD OF ALIMONY.
- A. The Chancellor's findings, unless manifestly wrong, will not be disturbed on appeal.

Perhaps the most often repeated equitable principle is that a Chancellor's findings, unless manifestly wrong, will not be disturbed on appeal. That bare statement is clear, but the rationale for the rule is even more compelling, as noted by Justice Griffith, as follows:

...and when two or more reasonable inferences are deducible from the facts is proof, the *inference drawn and adopted by the Chancellor will control on appeal*. [citations omitted]. This rule has its foundation not only in the imperative operation of the constitutional ordinances mentioned; it has a further controlling reason in this: the opportunities afforded to the trial court are far better for arriving at correct conclusions and findings upon the questions of fact. Of this matter, our Supreme Court has said: "Here we have nothing but the naked record before us; there, in most cases, the parties themselves are in the presence of the court in testifying. The

manner of testifying, and their appearance upon the witness stand, and many other things, are influential in determining the triers of fact;" or as said in another case: the decision of the Chancellor where the evidence is conflicting will not be disturbed on appeal, since he is better able to determine the truth of the matter than the appellate court.

Griffith, Miss. Chancery Practice, 2 Ed., 1950, Sec. 674 at 741-43. (*emphasis added*). These principles have been regularly reiterated by the Courts in this state, which have noted that the scope of review of a Chancellor's decision on alimony and child support issues is limited. *See e.g., McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So. 2d 1057, 1063 (Miss. 2000). Substantial deference is afforded the Chancellor's determinations so long as there is *substantial evidence* to support those determinations. *McEwen v. McEwen*, 631 So. 2d 821, 823 (Miss. 1994) (*emphasis added*). The Supreme Court stated the abuse of discretion standard of review as follows:

This Court's standard of review defers much to the Chancellor's final judgment. As a reviewing court, we are not to merely substitute our own judgment for that of the chancellor's. We may reverse the Chancellor's findings only if we find that they are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous when examining the record before us. *Sanderson v. Sanderson*, 824 So. 2d 623, 626 (Miss. 2002).

Holley, 892 So. 2d at 184.

For the foregoing reasons, the Chancellor's findings should not be disturbed on appeal unless manifestly wrong and based on a lack of substantial and credible evidence to support such findings.

B. There is substantial and credible evidence which establishes Dan's ability to pay alimony.

With these equitable principles in mind, the Supreme Court stated that "our ultimate goal in divorce is to do equity." *Holley*, 892 at 185. Specifically, the Supreme Court's holding directed the chancellor on remand to make findings of fact and application of the *Armstrong* factors "with

instructions that he *examine in detail Danny's financial ability* or lack thereof to pay a reasonable determined amount of alimony." *Id.* at 186 (*emphasis added*).

Dan raises three issues on appeal related to the determination of the amount of alimony:

- 1. Whether the Chancellor's decision to award alimony was manifest error, an abuse of discretion and was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence when considered with the equitable distribution, award of child support, other support awards and the entirety of the record;
- 2. Whether the Chancery Court was manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous in calculating the income of the appellant which served as the major basis for the award of alimony; and
- 3. Whether the Chancery Court was manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous in calculating the expenses and needs of the Appellee which served as a basis for the award of alimony.

The foregoing briefing and decisions notwithstanding, the examination here must simply focus on whether there is substantial, credible evidence in the record to support the Chancellor's findings regarding Dan's ability to pay alimony.

In his opinion, Judge Burns referred to Dan's average earnings for 2001, a year in which Dan had six weeks of no earnings due to the time he spent in a rehabilitation center, and clearly relied on these figures when calculating the amount per month from which Dan could pay alimony:

```
$136,000 average income

44,463 taxes
$ 91,567 divided by 12 = $7,630
$ 7,630 net income
```

3,365 projected expenses

1,200 child support

\$ 3,065

REW 0002. Judge Burns also referred to Wanda's income and expenses in reaching his decision:

Her gross monthly income was \$6,112.00 and net was \$3,245.00 including bonuses and her second job income as an organist at her church. Wanda's monthly living expenses are \$4,176.00 and the children's \$4,183.00.

Id. The figures related to Wanda's income and expenses were virtually uncontested at trial, and as noted above, the Supreme Court did not dispute Judge Gore's specific finding of Wanda's expenses of \$8359 or that Wanda was suffering a deficiency in her need. Judge Gore specifically found that the assets could not be divided in a way to avoid the need for alimony. Dan did not appeal the division of assets. REW 0044.

In his latest brief, Dan places repeated emphasis on the unfairness of considering his income average over the five years preceding trial, arguing his income as a stock broker depends on fluctuations in the market. Thus, Dan reasons, it would be unfair to consider averages. Logically, the reverse is true. When income fluctuates, the best measure of earning capacity is a reasonable average. And here, the Chancellor had both Dan's income average for a 3 and 5 year period, as well as Dan's 2001 income. As noted, Dan admitted that in the 14 years prior to the divorce, when the market was fluctuating, Dan had never earned as little as he suggested to the Chancellor.

However, one chart is particularly telling. Cutting through all of Dan's testimony, it is only necessary to look at the year prior to the trial in order to determine Dan's ability to pay. His primary argument is that the market was down and he "probably" won't be receiving any bonuses. That doesn't matter. His 2001 earnings through November, in a year when he was out for 6 weeks, belies his contention that he is unable to pay. Disregarding his past earnings and assuming, arguendo, that Dan will not receive any bonuses, the best earnings to consider are the actual regular earnings received in the 11 months prior to the trial. Exhibit D-3 is the actual earnings statement issued by his

employer on November 27, 2001, only a few weeks prior to the trial. That statement, disregarding bonuses, showed regular earnings for 11 months of \$89,319. Because Dan did not work for 6 weeks in early 2001, those regular earnings were generated in 9 ½ months. There is no reason to speculate about Dan's earnings when a trial exhibit is a definitive statement. Exhibit D-3 (REW 00007) is shown as follows:

[THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

Earnings Statement

Social Security Number: 427-17-7144
Taxable Marital Status: Single
Exemptions/Allowances;
Federal: 1

State:

	d Begi		10/27/200	
Perio	d Find	NOT.	. 11/27/250	Á
Pay	Date:		12/10/200	

DANNY L HOLLEY 310 GREENBRIAR COLOMBUS MS 39705

Earnings	rate hours	this period	year to date
Regular	•	4,791.43	#19 F1 (42(Up)
R Misc Eam	•	70.00	969.00
H Prod Bonus		1	13,497.00
M Br Mgr Bon			33,630.00
Z Loss Paybok			-1,404.14
	Prose Day	\$40,861.42	136,010.69
Deductions	Statutory		
	Federal Income Tax	-846,15	30,023.73
	Medicare Tax	-67,37	1,934.72
	MS State Income Tax	-180.96	5:578.22
	Social Security Tax		4,984.B0
	Other		
	C Retirmnt-401K	-79.97*	10,500.00
	H Life Ins-Empl	-50.00	600.00
	L Ltd-After Tax	- 60.8 6	730.32
	10 Life Ins-Dep	-1.20	14,40
	33 Health Care	-60,00*	720,00
	55 Life Ins-Sp	-10.00	120.00
	6 Medical Ins	-160.20*	1,922.40
	77 Accident Ins	+5.20	62,40
	Z Earning Offst		129.00

For I.D. Only
Rec'd Into Evidence

With no bonuses, this exhibit shows the following.

	<u></u>	
Regular Earnings	Actual	
	(9 ½ months)	
2001	\$89,319	
Average per month	\$9,402	_
C 1		

For comparison purposes to show Dan's <u>earning capacity</u>, Dan's six year average was \$12,534 per month and his three year average was \$14,797 per month. Dan's ability to pay alimony is directly supported by his actual earnings record, regardless of whether the Court considers Dan's earnings for the five years prior to 2001, the three years prior to 2001 or his actual earnings for 9 ½ months in 2001, as follows:

		2001	
6 Year Average	3 Year Average	9 1/2 Months	
12,534	14,797	\$9,402	

Dan's "regular" earnings for 2001 for the 9 ½ months on Exhibit D-3, are revealing.

Dan's 2001 income was lower than the preceding five years due to the time he spent in rehabilitation. Therefore, Dan's arguments of unfairness are without merit. Assuming, arguendo, that, due to the fluctuations in the market, the amounts and existence of a bonus cannot be precisely measured, Dan's *regular* earnings without bonuses for 2001 demonstrate a clear ability to pay alimony:

\$89,319.00 \$9,402.00	\$89,319.00 \$9,402.00
\$9,402.00	\$9.402.00
	Ψ2,402.00
\$0.00	(\$750.00)
\$9,402.00	\$8,652.00
	1

Tax Withholding Deductions		
Federal Tax (.221)	\$2,078.00	\$1,912.00
Medicare (.014)	\$132.00	\$121.00
Social Security (.062)	\$583.00	\$536.00
State Income Tax (.04)	\$376.00	\$346.00
Other Payroll Deductions	\$347.00	\$347.00
Child Support	\$1,200	\$1,200
Net Pay	\$4,686.00	\$4,190.00

Looking *only* at Dan's earnings numbers for 2001, taking into account the 9 ½ months of income shown ability to pay alimony is obvious.

Dan's net income (without any bonus) after paying the \$750 award of alimony, is \$4,190 per month, \$625 more than he claimed he needed, R. 743, REW 0010, and \$125 more than he needs after Judge Burns' direction that he pay \$500 a month in arrearage. Actually, his own proof showed that he only needed \$2,677.

Dan's gross monthly income for 2001 was \$9,402, without bonuses. That is contrasted with Wanda's gross monthly income of \$6,112, R. 743, REW 0010, and she bears most of the expense for rearing the children. The hard, unspeculative information shown above is conclusive evidence of Dan's ability to pay.

In summary, the Chancery Court carefully considered Dan's ability to pay reasonable alimony as directed by the Supreme Court. The Chancery Court had before it substantial and credible evidence on which it based its findings in reaching the \$750.00 per month alimony award to Wanda. For the foregoing reasons, the Chancellor did not abuse his discretion, and his findings should be affirmed.

⁴ His expense figure of \$3,565 has been reduced by \$888 because it was for expenses which Wanda is now required to pay under the terms of the decree. (Divorce Decree)

II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN CALCULATING WANDA'S NEEDS AND EXPENSES.

Although there is substantial evidence to support the finding of need by the Chancellor, that was not an issue before the Chancellor below and cannot be an issue before this Court. In his judgment, Judge Burns merely repeated, at REW 00002, the findings of Judge Gore, REW 00010, in the original judgment, as to Wanda's needs of \$8359. That issue was raised by Dan in his first appeal and in his arguments against rehearing and in opposition to Wanda's petition for certiorari, but the finding of Wanda's need was not disturbed by the Court of Appeals or by the Supreme Court, which limited the issue on remand strictly to "...Danny's financial ability or lack thereof to pay..." REW 0028. Judge Gore's findings of Wanda's needs, undisturbed by the Supreme Court, and now reaffirmed by Judge Burns, constitute the law of the case, REW 0002, and are binding on Dan.

In any event, both the findings of Judge Gore and Judge Burns are supported by substantial evidence.

Dan's basic contention is that because he only gave Wanda \$4,000 for support – of all kinds – during the 6 months prior to trial, and because she only incurred about \$6,600 in debt during that time, that she made no showing of substantial need. Of course, he ignores the fact that, during that time, she simply had to defer the purchase of many items and the payment of other expenses. She made interest only payments on the house and deferred the property taxes of \$3,500. R. 166. Wanda made the conscious decision to "not spend" as much as before, for example, no back to school clothes and the like. R. 202. Two children took jobs in an effort to reduce net expenditures because

Dan was providing so little support. *Id.* The Chancellor found that some of the bills were not going to be fixed until the final divorce was entered.

The reality is that Wanda's living expenses were set forth in Exhibit 13 (R. 494) as \$8359, and clearly constitute substantial evidence of the living expenses of Wanda and her children. These expenses were accepted, to the penny, by Judge Gore, Judge Burns and the Supreme Court, and there is no basis now to disturb them.

III.THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS AWARD OF PERIODIC ALIMONY RATHER THAN LUMP SUM ALIMONY.

On appeal, the Mississippi Supreme Court discussed Judge Gore's award of rehabilitative rather than periodic alimony, addressing the differences between the two types:

In Lauro v. Lauro, 847 So. 2d 843, 849 (Miss. 2003), we described rehabilitative alimony and its purposes: "Rehabilitative alimony" is awarded to parties who have put their career on hold while taking care of the marital home. Rehabilitative alimony allows the party to get back into the working world in order to become self-sufficient. Therefore, rehabilitative alimony is not considered during equitable distribution. "Rehabilitative periodic alimony is an equitable mechanism which allows a party needing assistance to become self-supporting without becoming destitute in the interim. "Periodic alimony" is for an indefinite period vesting as it comes due and is modifiable. "Rehabilitative periodic alimony" is modifiable as well, but is for a fixed period of time vesting as it accrues.

Holley, 892 So. 2d at 186. The Court noted that, because of Wanda's professional, stable career and because she did not put her career on hold at any time during the marriage, rehabilitative alimony was not the appropriate type of alimony to be awarded. Holley at 186. In its discussion of types of alimony, the Court only referred to rehabilitative alimony, periodic alimony, and variations of the same, making no mention of lump sum alimony. *Id.* Based on these directives of the Court and the

examination of applicable case law, the Chancery Court determined periodic alimony to be the appropriate type of alimony award in the instant case. REW 0004.

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